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CHAPTER I
IHTRODUCTION

the purpose of this study is to give to the reader a
history of Lutheran secondary educalion as it developed in
e Louls. the study may prove to be a review for those who
are acquainted with the Lutheran nigh school question in
Lhis civy, and, at uhe same time, it may £ill certain gaps
within the Iramework of the ecntire picture for those who
are not lamiliar with it.

ilhe ressarch proved helpful to the writer, especially,
sinee the Lutheran high school was thought to be something
thatv had always oeen here, Furthermore, the writer was im-
pressed, once again, by che initiative and courage of the
sarly fathurs of our Synod when they discussed the matter
of ecucaitiocn Jor the children who would follow in their
Looilsiveps. Their actions may prove valuable object lessons
for ugs in vhe church today. They faced gigantic problems,
ane they were not always successful. Bven though we may
look by hindsight with smugness and indifference upon the
world of cheir day, the labors of their hands have reached
a fvll harvest in our day.

ine history of the Lutheran high school development in
Ste Louis, iMissouri, is the burden of this paper., Ve shall,
theratore, investigate more closely the element of Lutheran

secondary education. It is true that our church has always

E
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been cducavionslly minded. Providing pastors and teachers
Vas a main concern of our lorefathers once they reached this
tounvry. ‘they had made a2 complete break with the past, and
Lilere wae no returning. fTherefore, any reference we might
make to Lnis kind of professional training will be only to
forivify uhe position of the preseat study.

ihis thesis is divided into four main chapters, each
periaining Lo a particular phase of the Lutheran high school
development. Ue, vherefore, bagin with the year 1455, be-
Cauge on that date & form of Lutheran secondary education
Was established, entirely separate from the professional,
Or pastor-teacher training program. 7This paper, then, will
Lrace Luivheran secondary education until the year 1946,
it will ve a compilavion of what has been written in the
Past in order to give the reader a picture that is as com=-
Plete as possiblo.

A8 siated previously, our forefathers, first of all,
established an institution to train pastors for the work
of the ministry in this counctry. This was the Perry County
College, in Perry Couniy, Missouri, begun in the year 1339.
Such an institution, however, did not fully benefit those
young people who uid not have the desire to study for the
holy ministry.

Imtheran secondary education was a problem that came
naturally to the congregavions of this city. It was a fore-
sone conclusion that where a congregation was established

a parociial slementary school became an intezral part of the
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total Christian sducational program. Each congregation had
its ouwn elemenvary school for the training of its youth.
wince the Lutherans were so cducationally minded, the future
of their chilaren, after the completion of elementary train-
ing, created great intersste.

Fasior J. Clemens Miller established his English Private
School in St. Louis in 1855. lanformation is not extensive
48 ©o Lhe exaclL nature of this institution. But we learn
from the sources available that Miller was interested in
Séconuary cducation as a preparation for secular callings.

He was also interested in the Eaglish language, of which

he made adeqguate use in his school. Pastor liller was theo-
logically trained, a graduate of Gettysburg Seminary. ' He
Was a momber of the Pennsylvania Ministerium, but drew great
adairation {rom the officials of our Synod.

His schocl was a private affair, but not elaborate. The
orisinal investment asounted to only .5600. He trained mostly
S0as ol German immigrants, and the enrollment was high enocugh
for his support. Pastor Miller suifersd ill health only a
year ai'vcr he began the institution. As & result, the dura-
tion of liller School was very short. The school propsrty
also accunulated debts, so that after Pastor Miller's forced
retircment, the school possibly discontinued. Pastor J. W.
Albach assumed vhe responsibility after Miller's departure,
ouL because of the debts failed to continue it. Information
is not suiricient to‘tell when the HMiller Private School dis-

solved, iif it did, but there is the possibility that it was
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Lransrormed into Lmmanuel Academy in 1857.

Lhe secona phase brings us into contact with the last
Hamed insticution, The Immanuel District had a two-room
elementary school, uouséd in the church basement. In 1857,
the members of turanuel wished to add another teacher to the
LWwo they alrecady had, but they wanted this man to teach a
"Ligher class." Since they were already crowded for space,
they buill an asaditional building behind the church and
called srastor Albach to teach this "higher class,."

vasvor albach was a natvive of Germany and a schoolmate
of Pastor .iller at Geltysburg Seminary, Gettysburg, Penn-
Sylvania. He held pastorates in Pennsylvania and eventually
was in conlessional agreement with our church. He accepted
the call issued to him by lmmanuel District and assumed his
duties at Lumanuel Academy.

The institution, in time, had three teachers, with a
definite plaancd lesson schedule. From time to time, parents
were urged to fulfill their duty by looking after the educa-
tional welfare of their children. Adequate facilities and
excellent teachers did not seem to draw the pupils in spite
of the potential. The cost for attendance was kept as low
as possible, with board and room provided for an additional
small fee,

The Civil war years also brought havoc to Immanuel Aca-
deny. ~rarents sent their boys to vocational schools to hasten

their securing secular jobs. There was also talk in St. Louis,
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about suarting a General Academy and not having a school sup-
ported by one church as Immanuel was doinge. During the time
of this discussion I[umanuel lost its church and school by
fire in December, 1355, :

while Lmnanuel wuas busy rebuilding, a General Academy
was dlscussed oy the other congregations. Pastor Albach
continued at lmnanuel Academy until his retirement on June
26, l6c¢Y. There is no definite proof, but it is believed
that lumanuel Academy coutinued for an indefinite length of
Cime,

fhe chira phase of secondary ecucational development
slightly overlaps the preceding one. Although Immanuel
Acagemy relused o close and give its support for a General
ACademy, Lhe ovhor con regations went ahead with their plan
in spite of Lumanuel. This is the phase in which Dr. C. F.
We wWalther plays such a major part. Although Walther was
the loader, several atlempts failed because the Lutherans in
wte Louis withdrew their support.

ihe first fallure at a liochere Buergerschule was because
Inmanuel Academy failed Lo close and Fastor Albach was not
Permitted Lo teach in the Ceneral Academy. Elaborate plans
for a Hoeunsre Toechterschule also did not materialisze.

¥inally, the time was ripe for success. In 1867, the
Hoghere buergerschule was established, and the Hoechere
 Joecnterschule vhe next year. Crovwded cenditions at Con-

cordia College, Fort Wayne, lndiana, also aided Walther's




cause,

ihe course of iastruction was quite similar to that of
limanuel Acacemy. Lnorance requirements and fees were so set
in order to zive as many as possible the chance for a good
seconuary education. The inscructors were of the highest
quality, a few ol tac more prominent being A. F. Brackmann,
leacher ¢. Arauss, and A. C. Burgdorf,

ALL reports av this time lead us to believe that the
Schwwel was guite successful., Through the years, the institu=-
Lion underwent several changes in name, with the final one
Gescrioing iuscli as the Lutheran High School in St. Louis.

ihe next chapter relates the story of the Walther Col-
lege, wolich was regerded as the continuation of the Hoshere
Suerperschule. A. G Burgdori, from the Hoehere Buerger-
scaule, hcaced ithe new institution, with Edmund Seuel as its
principel. 'the walcher College Association looked after
{inanciszl matters ve give the institution stability.

The instvituvion was named as & meworial to Dr. C. Fo W
walther, who had done so much for educatioa in St. Louis,

It firsu occupled a site at 716 Barry Street, but in 1890

was moved vo lU33 Soulh Bighth Street. All the latest facil-
ities and accommodatiions made wWalther College quite up~to-
gate for chat time.

Enrollment increased and necessitated the calling of
anotiier teacher in 1890. FProsperity favored Walther College

until 1909, when ii was re-located on Park Avenue and Benton

]
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Place. Imusdiately cvhereafter onrollment bsgan to decline,
iCpeaicd pleas were issued to the Western District, but the
only ulLufﬁmLivc remaining was dissolution., This the Walther
College .ssociacion did on October 27, 1917.

fhe [inal chapter in the discussion on Iutheran high
Scnools pertains to the present institution, dating back to
1945. ilwost toree decades elapsed since the dissolution of
walther College. This chapter, the writer regrets, is woe-
fully incomplete. It was the writer's intention to give
merely a briefl summary of the genesis of the present devel-
Opiient. 1t is for that reason that the present Lutheran High
School cevelopment is merely summarized in the conclusion.

ihe initizl impetus was provided by representatives of
fority ui. Louls congregations in 1945. Property was purchased
at Lake and dateruan Avenues, where the present institution
is "bulging at the seams," making the prospect of two addition-
al high schools look very favorable.

ihe sources for this investigation were quite numerous,
@icepl in the earlier periods. There, very little is given,
and Lhat is nighly incomplete. A person expects certain
arvicles to reveal slightly more information, but they never
G0. lthe periods dealing with Miller's Private School and
Immanucl academy furnish no extant materials or catalogues,
as far as this writer could determine, making a complete
study impossible. Lihe articles written by Dr, A, C. Stell-

horn in "Lutheran Education"were quite helpful and were used
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extensively. ‘1he thesis refers to many articles in "Der
Lutheraner.” ‘llere was not an atiempt made to exhaust this
Source, Lul only the most obvious were utilized. The make-
up of' this tvhesis has been doae chronologically in order to
give the reader onc complete and continuous story wherever

possible,




CHArTER II
RILLER PRIVATE SCHOUL, 1855

fartin Luther and the founders of the Kissouri S}ﬂod in
America laid great etress on the Christlan schocl. They be-
Came vitally intecrested in a compléete formal education for
Cbristians in all things pertaining to this life and the life
hereafter.

The firet institution of learning that our fathere ori-
Elnated was the ferry County College in rerry County, lls-
gourl. 7Tuhie school wae founded in 1839 and was devoted en-
tirely to a general Christian education. However, it was
Wore or le=ze on the secondary level, with a view for e:xpan-
8lon into a higher school of learning. The second, or re-
habilitated, Lerry County College, of 1843, definitely began
the training of teachers and pastors. Thie 1t did in spite
of the fact that from 1850 to 1855 it laid an unusual stress
on 2 meneral education.l But there soon was the reallzation
that the Gymnasium, whichk conslsted of a high school and
Junior college departuent, was eminently esulted for a profes-
slonal training. This, however, did not satisfy the needs
of non-professional occupations progerly. Slnce the former
institutions were by and large in the German language, the

establ leshment of a private English school of tne sort inau-

1A. C. 5tellhorn, "Lutheran Secondary Education in St.

Louis," Lutheran Education, LAXAIV (karch, 1949), 406.
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gurated by Pasvor Miller in the fall of 1855 in St. Louis was
velconed indecd. :
dnformation concerning Pasvor iiller and his English
Privave school is such that both tend to remain in a histor=-
ical fog. Pathways leading outv of the fog that do, in a
haaner of speuxing, aid us in our search are the minutes of

ine veneral Conpgregation in 8t. Louils and the reports issued

-
-

by the "Luohbraner.“d A person still remains in the dark
alter reading Lhese accounts. The reader anticipates some
furthor statement, but in the final analysis such a state-
Zeni is not forihcoming. Even though we must rely upon other
Sources a rather clear picture can still be formulated.

we musu, firsc of all, set the stage. Iln December 18L9
the Seminary had been moved from Perry County, Missouri, to
Ole Louis. 4nis was known as the "Concordia College."” A
Prominent figure in its development was Adolph F. T. Biewend.
Biewend was born lay 6, 1816, at Hothehuette, ianover, Ger-
many. His e¢ducation was acquired in the rationalistic en-
Vironment of uthe nineteenth century. His exceptional gual-
itics made him an excellent student at the University of Goet-
tingen. One of his special interests lay in the study of
foreign languages. He was induced to come to America by
Friedrich K. D. Wyneken, who was in Europe looking for candi-
dates for the mission field in this country. Bicwend held a
pasvorate in Washington D, C. until 1847, after which he was

called to the Practical Seminary in Fort Wiayne, Indiana.

loid,
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After a few yeurs he was called to the St. Louis Seminary,
and in the fall of 1855 he was called as the director of the
College department. Iiis experiences in this country forti-
fied his idea of the value of the English language. He did
much by example and encouragement to make English a tool
that would be used in the :l‘uture.3 While Concordia College
Was accquately fitted Lo train men for the ministry, Bie-
wend felt that the College did not prepare young people for
Secular callings suificiently well.a

Bicwend's great interest in the English language had
other implicztions. In this connection he was interested in
e@stablisihing a school that taught the subjects of the busi-
ness world., For this reason he was very pleased with the
work ihst Pastor iiller was doing in his private school.
From Biewend we leara a little more about Pastor killer.

5 that an

Professor Biecwend informs us in the "Lutheraner"
Englich Luctheran pastor by the name of Miller had come to

voncordia Collegse in Ste. Louis in the spring of 1855. There
were two reasons. He wanted to perfect himself in the Ger-

man language, and he wanted to continue his theological

3H. G. Wyncken, Adolf Fr: Th. Biewend (St. Louis: Con-

cordia Publishing House, 1690), passim.

4uoy Avthur Suelflow, "fhe History of Concordia Sem=-
inary, St. Louis, 1847-1805," Concordia Historical Insti-
tute guarterly, iXiV (October, 1951), ol.

5 @dolph F. T, Bfiewem::l, "Hachrict von dem Concordia
gzllege zu St. Louis," Der Lutheraner, XII (April 22, 1856),
0-1.
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Studicse. Lthe reporc reveals ihal iMiller had opened an Eag-
lisk privaie school in order vo mect the necds of non-pro-
lessional guuiazua. Altnough the school was physically
Separave Lrom the College, it was neveriheless conducted in
Liie sane spirit. :

Ihe lev. Jo Ulemens Miller was a native of Lebanon,
Lebanon wouauy, Huuusyivaﬂia.b He studied at and graduated
frou Geltysourg Theological Jeminary, Getlysburg, Pennsyl-

vania, in ldéyYy, aller which time he served congregations in

renusylvahla.’ It might be mentioned at this time that he
Was a schoolmate of Pastor J. We Albach, of whom we shall
hear more later.” In the late summer or fall of 1856, Mil-
ior pecams the pastor ol che new 5t. Peter's congregation in
Baltimore. ot. Peter's of Baltimore was an English congre-
gavion, wiich had a parish school. Teacher C. We Miller
took charge of the school in 1856, but it did not exist very
long. Joon alier its dissolution, Teacher Miller accepted

a call to ut. Charles, lidssouri. The year 1859 proved a
faveiul one for Pastor J. C. Miller. During that year he
conuracued uhroat trouble, which forced him to resizn his

Pasiorave. He weacv back Lo Lebanon, Pennsylvania, and on

®ipid., XI (January 16, 1855), 88.

7 mtxds I g 1 L - -] .

August ile Suelflow, The Heart of Hissouri (St. Louis:
Voacoruia Publishing Houée, 19540, Pp. .

8 s e 4

sibael lioss wentz, Hisitory of the Getuvsburg Theological
Seminary (Philadelphia; The Unfted Tishevan Fubldcatlon Hoilas)
R-O..), pl i+02.'
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January 5, 1859, he died of consumption.

Pastor liller had gained considerable admiration. HNone
ouher unuan Ure G, i's we Wallher praised him as an individual
4ho had an avundance of undersianding and talent. He pro-
lessed boiu piety and numility in his earthly life, as well
a5 Lne avliliuy Lo take a firm stand on decisive matters.
lle was ever conscious of his Savior's message for the edi-
fying and suilding of the Church, Dr. Walther, furthermore,
lauced nim as having no equal among the English-speaking
prouchers oi the Gospel in regard to faithfulness.

{he Longlish private school of Pastor i#iller was con-
sidered Lo be a privatve undertaking. It was regarded as the
saglish oranch of Concordia College in 5t. Louis, which might
be turncd over to Synod in due time. The institution made
remarkacvle advances., oJuccess crowned the endeavor to the
€alent that the earollment reached a peak of thirty at one
time, .he siudent body consisted chiefly of sons of Germans
who desired an knglish course for their children in order
to broaden their secular opportunities.ll

There was nothing elaboraﬁe about the school; -it was
merely plain and neat. idAdequate income provided for the sup-

port of the teacher, who also conducted a night school. The

9$tellho-:'n’ Q. _(i!o_o, Pe 1509.

logg; Lutheraner, XV (January 11, 1859), 88.

11Snellhorn, op. cit., ps. 406.
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original iavesiuent {or the entire plant was $600. Here,
again, adequais informabion is not extani to inform us of
the cursiculum, but we do know that bookkeeping was mentioned
as one of une subjects.

Arouna the first part of March, 1856, Pastor Miller
vecame 1ll. His condiiion was such that his doctor insisted
Lial hc Lake a complels rest during the coming summer. After
he had tasen nis resi, he should thereafter take good care
of himselis %his meant that the school would be without a
Leacner unless somsone could be found to take his place.
Pasior f. K. . Uyneken and Professor Biewend finally re=-
solved to asi che hev. Jo We Albach to substitute for Pas-
tor .-.il.l.u.-i'.l}

PasLor Albach was contacted on March 31, 1356, when he
alieadea vhe ianstallations of Professor A. Biewend, as Direc-
vor, anw ihe heve George Schick, as Conrector, of the Con-
cordia Collexze Gvanasiwm.

in the final analysis, these incidents may relate to
the convinuavion of the school. During the summer or late
fall ol 1856, Pasvor Hillor left St. Louis because of his
healih, There were debius on the school property belonging

o Millaer, Fastor Albach was in charge of the school, but

F

Der Lutheraner, XII (April 22, 1856), 135.
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he waé not willing to purchase the school property nor to
assume the debis. ‘Uhe important thing is that the Miller
$Chool was continued by Albach from the spring of 1856 to an
ulnamed dale of dissolution. Possibly the school continued
until the summer of 1857, when the Immanuel Academy opened
in the fz1l. Yhis picture would lead us to believe that the
Hiller school, the private school that it was, did not con-
Linue into the Immanuel Academy, which was a congregational
school.li

Une facet of this story Lhat would be interesting to
£now is Lhe exact location of MHiller's school. Did he have
a special ovuilding? Did he.hold sessions in his own home?
ahere was nis home located? These are all questions that
the writer had co leave unanswered, because his research did
Dot lezd nim o a definite solution. The writer has men-
tioneu the OO0 investment made by Miller originally. This
would seem vo be a small amount for an entire plant separate
from nis home on the one hand, and a large amount if used to
provice facilitvies in his own home on the other hand. One
ovhier clue arises from a letter by killer's father af'ter his
son's deaih, in which a reference is made to his son's "school
furniture"l6 wiich was worth between one and two hundred

dollars. Again, we cannot determine the exact location of

15
1

3L311h0rn, OPe E—jii';'l De 408,
“Ioid., p. 407.
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the items under discussion.

we may conclude this chapter by saying that this was
the firsv attempt to conduct a separate high school in St.
Louis. fThere are several things that may be said to its
¢reditv: (1) It was the first attempt in our circles to
aake wse of vhe English language; (2) This institution was
an indication that such a school could be made a success,
even 1i' it were of a privace nature; (3) Finally, this ven-
Lture can oe cermed a success because of the number of its
enrollment, The glaring mark on the debit side of the ledger
was thav iv was a (inancial failure. It is remarkable also
vhat it was considered the companion and handmaiden of Con-
cordia College. &ven though two years are short in terms of
duraviliivy, this was a worthwhile venture. This fact is at-
Lvested by the list of sympasthetic supporters of the insti-
tution. Among the supporters were such men as Walther,
wynsken, and Biewend, to name only a few. lMost important of
all, Hiller's school taught the fathers a valuable lesson
for the future when they began a second attempt toward a

17

School of' vhis kind,

Y75v4d., p. 410,




CHAPTER III
IMMANUEL ACADEMY, 1857

- The Immanuel Disurict or congregation in St. Louis was
organized in 1847, with the Rev. Johann Friedrich Buenger,
4 vrolther-in-law of Dr. C. F, W. Walther, as pastor. Pas-
Lor Luenger was born on January 2, 1810, in the village of
Evzdorf, Saxony. The nineteenth century in Germany was a
"Geething caldron of antithetical Christianity, rationalis-
tic pymnastics on the one hand and pietistic experience on
che other.™ It is only by God'!s grace that Pastor Buenger
Survived these experiences and proved such a boon to the Mis-
Souri Luiherans. His educational experiences were extremely
difficult and soul-rending. While studying at Leipzig Uni-
versity, sSucnger came into coantact witih a group of believing
Studenits. Alivhough troubled in conscience he gave his body
and soul to his Lord and Savior. Shortly after his associ-
ation with the student organization Buenger became more
closely associated with C. F. W. Walbher.l

A series of events occurred in Germany which brought

talk of an intended emigration to a more practical possi-
bility. It s'.arted with the abrogation of the emigration
law by order of the king in 1837. After this the Rev. J,.

chnneth ite kolnar, "Johann Friedrich Buenger," Con=
co;uia Historical Institute Quarterly, XXX (Spring, 1957),
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A. Grabau and hie congregatlon at Erfurt left Germany for
America. This actiocn and ,similar ones by other congrega-
tione gtrengthened the Saxous 1n thelr reeoclution to leave
Germany. Iastor Buenger intended to be nboard the ship that
left frow Sremernaven, liovember 17, 1833, but a false kidnap-
Ping charge against his mother forced him to remain until
Deceuber 21, 1832, when he set s=all for Aumerica aboard the
Constitution.?

The forty yeare plue that fastor Buenger labored for
the kingdom in thie country are filled with reportes attest-
Ing to hie boundless energy for the Lord. As teacher, pas-
tor, orpanizer, he cerved hie church well. His efforts in
the founding of Concordia Geminary, in the inauguration of
young reople's work, in the establishment of a Lutheran
hospital and the orphans' home were far-reaching.3

Therefore, it 1s no surpriese that Pastor Buenger was
also greatly interested in education, both elementary and
higher echoole included. He lent assistance in the founding
of and also taught 1n the Ferry County College of 1839.
However, he did not remain there long. In less than a year,
he was installed aes teacher of Trinity'es elementary school
in St. Louls. He continued in that position until he was

made a pastor of the Immanuel District. Iastor Buenger also

2Iv1d., pp. 6-8.
SIbid., p. 25.
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had a great interest in the &nglish language. He had studied
it in dew Jlerk Uity before coming to Hissouri, He had taught
it and had asked for permission to preach English sermons.k
rastoxr J., IF. bDuenger's assistant here was his brother,
lheodore, not a trained teacher, but a former student of the

Dresdner hrsuz-vchule., Theodore received further training

for teaching school irTom his brother and Pastor walther.s
it was Theodore who anaocunced that a new German Lutheran
Schcol in Ui, Louis would be established under the auspices
ol Uhe congregations of the Unaltered Augsburg Confession.
loe sive of thiis institution was to be in the northern part
ol thie city, at Jeveuch Jtreet between Carr and Wash Strects.6
Undoubtedly, this was a branch of the Trinity School.

By 1357 Ghe Immanuel District had a two-room eclementary
scnool, houcsed in the basement of its second church building
av blevenbth ané Franklin. This location today is in the
business section oif the city. It should be pointed out that
She {irst church had been located at Eighth and Wash Streets.
The second school was in charge of Teacher J. Casper Ulrich,
age thirty-eight, a graduate of the Fort Wayne Seminary in
1848, He vaught the upper grades and served here from 1348

until 1800, when he accepted a call to Jt. Charles, Missourl.

%K. C. Stellhorn, "Lutheran Secondary Education in St.
Louis," Lutheran Sducation, LXXX1V (#arch, 1949), 410,

9Tbid.

Ser Lutieraner, I (December 14, 1844), 32.




20
The other teacher was iir. Ernst loritz Grosse, age forty-
three. lle was a caxon immigrant in 1839, a charter member

of Irinity and one of its Vorsaenper, or song leaders. He
Was not a vrained teacher, but a layman who had been asked

Lo assise wivh Lae Leaching of the primary grades on a tom-
porary basis. lils stabus remained unchanged in this capacity
7

until 1280, ovr for tweuniy-three years, when he died.

the year 1657 found the Immanuel District expressing

"

Lihe desire l'or a third teacher. This was a highly unusual -
Suggesiion due Lo thne fact that their elementary school was
Crowded already and such a proposal alone would not relicve
Lile coagesvion. furtheruore, it was their wish that this
teacher stould be for a "higher class."” On August 206 of the
Sauwe year, Proi'essor C. F. W. wWalther, head pastor of both
irinivy and immanuel, alsc suggested that it would be a great
olessing to establish a "higher class" at Immanuel District
as a convinuaiion of itvs two elementary classes. Such a
sugzestion was ifavorable to the congr@gation.g
Pastors Albach and Gotsch were tentatively coasidered
qualified candidates to teach such a third class. It was
left to the discretion of Professor Walther which of these
wo was Lo be eagaged. The third class also meant additional

sciiool space, to s added to the alrcady crowded conditions.

7stellhcrn, Ope cite, P. 410,

81pid.
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Finally, the suggestion was put forth that a separate build-
ing for the hipgher class be erected behind the church. The
meeting of August 31 definitely decided to have a higher
class. 4 mouth later the Reve J. William Albach was recom=-
mended ag vhe veacher, and the congregation decided to erect
& building behind the church. The basement was to be five
feev above ground and used for school purposes. rastor Al-
vach was to live on the first floor. Later this proposal
wWas reversed. The congregation called Pastor Albach on
Uclober 12; he accepted on November 9, 1857.9 Tha'building
was erected behind lmmanuel Church on Eleventh and Delmar
wlreels, Flans were made to dedicate it during the early
part of 1858, 10

A this time we shall seek to gain a clearer picture
of the first teacher at Immanuel Academy, Pastor Albach.

agister Johann wWilhelm Albach was born January

2L, 1819, atv liessen-Darmstadt, Germany. Iie came

To this country with his parents at an early age,

« o o o Ine fumily secms to have been Anglicized

Fast, for it went also by the name of "Albaugh."

when Heve Wyneken was pastor in Baltimore, 1845~

50, the iAlbaughs were apparently his parishioners.

william Albaugh graduated from the General Synod's
rennsylvania College at Gettysburg, Pa., in 1840,
and taugint or directed an Eaglish Academy for
women at ~omerset, Pa., for three years. In 1843
he returned to Geliysburg to prepare as a pastor
at the liberal Seminary of the General Synod.

bid,

10 e L}
August H. Suelflowi, ihe Heart of lissouri (3t. Louils:
Concordia Publishing Hous;, 1954 ), Pe 123.
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whlle there, Hev. Wyneken of Baltimore invited
"hr. We Albaugh" to subsiitute for him while he
would be away three weeks in September, 1845, on
a4 Lrip to Cleveland to atiend that historic mest-
ing of like-minded bretheren which initiated the
or_aniszalion of our own Synod. Although address-
ing him as Alvaugh, he writes him a Cerman letter,
and calls him "Mein lieber Bruder Albach." He
sipresses hls gravilicavion over the fact Chat
Ablwacn had decided o become a pasior.

Graduating at Gettysburg in 18406, Albach becames
pasvor of an Bnglishi congregation in Fort Wayne,
lad. (probably by the recommendation of Pastor
dyuncken), « « « o« JIn Fort Wayne, he bacame a
close associate of Dr. wm. Sihler, and taught
suplist io our Fort Wayne Seminary from the time
of its establishment in 1846 forward. He complains
Lo Wyneiken avout difficulties in his English con-
cropation. Wyneken consoles him in a long German
levver, velfers him to Sibler, . « « « In 1848,
sLill ian Foru wayne, Albach published an English
vranslation of the "Life of Luther™ through H
Ludwig & Co., New York Ciity. « o .

i 1849, Somerset, fae., inquired whether he would
accept a call to a congregation here. Albach now

& sirictly confessional Lutheran, no doubt through
tiie influcnce of Sihler and Wyneken, made his posi-
vion clear, and the call was apparently not extended
Lo nim, Sy 1851 we find him as pastor at Carroll-
ton, Ucio. « « « But here he got into serious
trouble, due Lo nis sirictness in Lutheran doctrine
and practice. « o « Albach is refused a defense

in toe Lutheran Standard, and sends a defense in
German o ulie Luutkheraner, upon the recommendation
of 3ihler. FProiessor walther addressed him as
"iein Cheurer Bruder,” counsoles him, criticilzes

Lthe leaders in the Ohio Synod. Albach is first
suspenued, then expelled by his English District
souetime prior to 1854; and when he appeals to

the OUhio Synod itself, his appeal is "laid perma-
nenuly on the table," without a hearing. Sihler
defends 4lbach in the Lutheraner and criticises

the Ohio Synod. &ven Gravau of Buffalo had written
Albach at Carrollton and viliiied the Missouri
Synod as vhe purest non-Lutherans and Stephanists.

whethier Albach had another congregation is not
clear. Sinler addressed him once at lount Hope,
Ohio, in 1854. Something elsec seems likely.
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leacher raul Baumgart of Baltimore, the brother-
in-low, accepted a call as pastor to Logan, Ohio,
in logd, taking Maria Albach along, and expecting
Liie pareats-in-law to follow soon, to make their
fomie wiuvih him. J1n 1850, Baumgart became the suc-
cessor ol deve Uttomar Fuerbringer at Elkhorn
Yrairic, 1ll. . « « The Albachs evidently came
aloug,, Lor tne father died in that neighborhood
on april o, 1865, tane mother in 1871.

4l is likely that leve J,» we Albach also moved

Lo Venedy, for rrofessor Biewend tries to reach
fLiim Larougn vaumgarc, and Albacn later wrote to
rasuwor miller's lather that he moved to St. Louis
in ldse "from illinois.” After taking over the
Acadcmy, he joined the St. Louis Congregation on
daste 4, LG58, but apparently never became a membsr
o Lite sissouri oynod.

40e date ol albuch's marriage is not known, but he
marriec an waglish-speaking Miss Ann Hauck after
Liv2. « o o they had two children: Cordelia
Johaunag, « « «» and Friedrich Heinrich wilhelm,

e s s o AL Ls sald thav che children had to speak
snplich o Lheir moilher ana German to their Iather.
albach wrote anu spoke an excellent German. Iirs.
Albuch died Feb., 24, 1863, of smallpox, « « » »
Four-year=old williasm died Hay 19, 1863. . .
Vordelia became the wife of Rev. H. G. Schmidt
someLiuae between 1875 and 188G. Albach retired

48 teacher obf Immanuel School in Sv. Louis on

June 28, lsosd, was voied a pension of 925 a month,
mace nis howe with the son=in-law at Freeport, Ill.,
and woveda wich the latter to hilwaukee, Wis. « «
Here Alpach died Dec, 11, 1900, of a strangled
hernia, wivhh Ur. arvaer fetrick in attendance,

anc was f&ri°d in Concordia Cemetery, St. Louis,
Uec. 15,

A5 previously siated, the coagragation had decided to

erecl a separate puilding for the Academy. The building
that was proposed cost $2000. The next problem to be solved
was a lesson schedule for the scihool. The committee that was

appointed to draw wup such a schedule, before the arrival of

115tellhorn, Ope cil., pp. 41l1-3.
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Pasvor Albach, was comprised of the following: Dr. C. F.
We walilher, the Kev, J. F. Buenger, lir, Louis Volkening,
@& former teacher at lmmanuel, lir. L. E. Bertram, Teacher
J. C. Ulrich, and Teacher E. M. Gross.

According to Stellinorn, the minutes of Immanuel Con-
gregutlion also reveal that they desired a third teacher for
their clementary school. They desires to call a certain
bir. wueller, who had a very good reputation among them, but
who was not qualified to teach religion. Therefore, they
decided vo engage Teacher lueller temporarily.l

Pastor Albach's Diploma of Vocation, or formal call,
was approved by Immanuel Congregation a month after he had
accepled the call. His salary was set at $40 per month,
ancé Teacher siueller was to get $30 per month. The price of
tuition was ,1.50 per month, but children of members were
Lo o partially or altogether free. A committec was also
appoinied Lo appraise "the equipment brought over from Hr,
Albach's lormer school quarhers."lh This must have been
equipnent that was used in connection with Miller's Private
School. At any rave, this equipment was valued at §200.

ihe lesson=-schedule committee brought forward the

following proposal:

12 bid., p- 412

1
sIbid.
14.L°id.' Pe ll-ulrn




25

Albacii: In vhe higher class--19 hours

vatechism 2 Geography 2
Hisvory 2 rhysics 2
1crcan 3 English 3
\athematics 5

in Lha upper elementary class-=7 hours

waplish 4 German 3
Uirich: in the Academy=-=-3 hours

vhurch History 2 Singing

‘4 his upper class==l2 hours
vatechism 3 Singing 1
vivle History 2 German [

sueller: In che intermediate class--6 hours

Bible History 3 Singing 11
vatecnism 2

il Gne Academy--4 hours
Geometry . 1 Drawing 1
venmanshiip and German 2

iln Lhe upper elementary class--7 hours
Fenmanship 2 Drawving 1
Arithmetic 4

ia his houe room==1l5 hours
German 6 Penmanship 4
Arithmetic & Gnglisn 1

ihis schedule was adopted by the conbregabion.ls

Therc were other rules and regulations adopted in this ;
meeling on uecember li. Ho school was held on tednesday
alternoons, but was held instead on Saturday mornings. A
s5chool boara, with rules and regulations for ofifice, was
eleciee. Those chosen were kir. Volkening and ir. Bertram.

ihe teachers were paid vheir salaries a moath in advance.
16

ihe school building was irsured for 31500,
ihe school building was dedicated on January 11, 1858,

A church service was held in which Pastor J. F. Buenger
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Preached a German sermon and rastor J. W. Albach an English
Sermon. Ahe music was provided by Professor Walther's col=-
lege chorus, the school childres, and the members of the
Congrezation. After the service, the teachers and pupils
marched o their respective rooms. Teacher Ulrich offered
Lo Serve reireshments to the cnildren in his home. That
Gveulng the coagregacion decided that the Academy be ad-
vertised in the “.estliche Post," a German paper of St.
Louis, oy a short and siuple ad. ‘They also decided to
Sr'ect a sign with the name "Academie"™ and place it on the
blevenih Jtreet side of the school.l7

w@ are very rorsvunate to have a report by Ur. C. F. %,
walihcr in waich he expresses his philosophy of Christian
Ghucution aud applies it to Immanuel Academy. The report
dppeared vwo years afver the founding of the Academy. It
Was auoressed Lo parents who were concerned about the wel-
fare of their children. The concern of the parents for |
their cnildren should ve two-fold: (1) They should first
e concerned that taeir children be Christians and be saved;

(2) Seconuly, the parents are to train their children so

that they are a blessing to the world and to the church.
fherefore, the purpose of the Academy is to provide for the
boys who have {inished tne elementary school course, a

further education for their future calling. ‘They are to

17ibid., p. 415.
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0¢ helpec so that they may be able to speak, read, and write
baglish as well as German. In addition to this the students
will be instructed thoroughly in mavhematics, geography,
hisvory, and nalure study. In short, the student will be
Biven everyihing he needs in the way of human knowledge so
Lhat he may e able vetter to carry out a life's calling in
Lae worla. ==

ihe one note of regret expressed by Dr. Walther was the
Suall nuuver of studeaius in attendance. lie points out in a
igoLnoie uvhat Laois should not be the case because the St.
Louis congre alion was divided invo three districts, Imman-
uel, iriaivy, anc loly Cross, having a combined total of
ulne Leacners and approximavely 776 pupils. This caused
2im vo urge the parents to fulfill their duty in the light
Ol wod's word. The guiding principle of the Academy is
Fealw 111:10, "ihe if'ear of the Lord is the beginning of
wisdom, "%

lie relaced thauv their children have an opportunity that
Lacy whemselves did not have. Very often they are made con=
scious oi' their ignorance because of their lack of ability
in Lnglish. The Academy would remedy the situation for their

sons. danis education would be better for them than the money

= Ce o e walther , "An Elteran, die fuer das YWohl
ihrer Rinder besorgt sind," Der Lutheraner, XV (July 26,
1859), 193. BT T o

191 pid.
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they would leave their sons il they did not send them. The
State is also in neced of good Christian leaders. What bet-
ter heritvaze could they give for posterity than to train
Cheir cghildren adequately!l o more should it be said of
Yhiew thau they are uncultured. They have an opportunity.
Uver there, they were poor; here God has blessed them abun-
dantly! wor is ii necessary that all pareants train their
S0ns Log Lhe mindisury. Yet, they should not be satisfied
with only vhe barest essentials. They should send them to
& figher scinool and let vhem learn something worth while to
fit them for a secular calling.zo

Yr. walther, finally, wmakes reference to Luther's phi-
loscpny of education. He quotes directly from Luther's
“Appeal Lo Lnhe Mayors and Aldermen of All the Cities of Ger-
daay lor the Lstablishment and slaintenance of Christian
wehools, 1524." Luther emphasizes the need for men who could
rule Lhe couatry and its people well, and women who could
rain and govern the home, children, and servants well,?l
Ab Lhis point Dr. dalther brought in the idea of an educa=-
tion for ,irls, too. lmmanuel Académy must not haves been
8¢t up for that purpose. All in all, we have here a good
Christian and Lutheran philosophy of education. God's will,

first of azll, is vhalL we be saved, secondly, that we serve

201 pid., p. 19%.

2lihid.
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our nei nbor and be useful to vhe church and state.

In darch of 1360 there was an announcement of a board-
ing Louse for those siudenus comins from a great distance.
William Sisving ofiered accommodations for half price, or
¥2 per month plus 1l for bath and repairs. In passing he
Stated Lhe requircments for the Academy: Be able to read
German and boglish and handle the four species in arith-
mstic. He would also provide board and lodzinz for those
Wao wishod to ealer one of the three elementary schools.

uests should be directed to him "Cars of Hoyt,

o

any other re

Li

Urecn & Co. Udox 2526. St. Louis, Nol."

Apain in Ju;y of the same year, therec was a second an=-
douncomeny conceranias Immanuel Academy given by Mr. Sieving.
ilie new scuool year would begin August 15. He stated that
Lhe entrance requirements for the Academy are to be able to
read German and English fluently, handle the four species in :
aritimevic and vo weite from dicvation. The two-year Academy
course is listed as follows: German and English grammar,
arithmevic, algesbra, goometry, geography, world and church
hisvory, navural history, physics, chemistry, bookkeeping,
drawving, and singing. Latin and inscrumental music were
tauvgzae for an acditionzal feec. The fee charged for board,
laundry, and light would be O per month, and tuition was

9le50 per month. In order to keep the cost down, the

22a‘.‘illiam vieving, "Schueler Herberge," Der Lutheraner,
LVI (darch 6, 18060), 119.
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Student was asked to provide his own mattress, pillow, bed
¢clothes, lamp, and wrunk, Every pupil was required to buy
the prescriped books, which amounted to 55.23

inings staried looking bad for the Academy at the start
of the school year in 1861, Teacher David Gehring, who had
Degun teaching at the Academy in the spring of 1353,2h was
released ve Peoriaz, Illinois, on August 5. Because of the
Civil sar and the scarcity of men, the school had to operate
with enly three teachers. Girls had entered the Academy in
1853 only to take the handiwork course,25 and now were out-
Dumuerin, tee coys because the parents were sending the late-
Ler Lo vocablionzl schools in oraer to fit them for jobs
carlicr, Yherefore, il was decided to have Albach teach
only boys, abocut fifty in number. The year 1861 is also
tiie year in wnich vhe 5t. Louls Gymnasium was transierred
Lo Fort liayne, lndiana, and the Fort Wayne Seminary to
(-1 7 Louis.’s

succeeding years brought two problems before Immanuel

Vongregation: the [irst, whether or not Immanuel was in

favor of a Ueneral Academy in place of the one they now

ZjJ. fi, W. Sieving, "Evangelisch lutherische Akademie,™
ber Luthcruuer, AVI (July 24, 1860), 200,

2hsuellnorn, op. cit., pe 415,
251bid.

201bid., 'pe %20,
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had. 1In 1503 vecause they had four teachers again, they
decided (o continue their own acadeny and not support a
General Academy; the second, whether or not to start a
Prepardavory school in order to relieve the crowded condi-
vions at Fort Wayne, which Albach was supposed to head.
Lumanuel was aou inceresived in this either because they
had a groscer concern for the improvement of the elemen-

Lary scioolse. In the shui'lle they feared that the higher
¢lass might be lcat.z

iusvead of vhe congregatioaal school such as Immanuel
had, Ur. . Fao i. Walther proposed in 1866 the organization
0L @ goseral Lutheran high school for St. Louis. He wanted
Lo cull iy Lhe loehere Duergerschule. Once more, he empha=-
Slzce chie lmporiaace of a Chrisvian . education. Parents
could give their children anothing better. Leaving them
woney or property when they died was not good if the chil-
dren uid mob know how to manage it. The new school was
not opened unvil the fall of.1867.

During che time that the Hoehere Buergerschule was
discussed, Imuanuel had lost its school and church in a
fire during December, 1805. bBecause Immanuel was so

busy trying to get back to original form, it paid little

27

ibld.

28G, F. u. Uelther, "Vorlaeufige Nachricht und Auf-
forderung betreffs einer su errichtenden deutschen evang.
luth. hoehseren iucrgerschule zu St., Louis, Mo.," Der Luth-
graner, XXIi (August 1, 1866), 182.
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atiention to all the discussion. When the opening of the
School was anaounced, there was no reaction at all from
lamanuel. This would lead us to believe that Immanuel con-
tinued with its Academy. Only the departmental teaching was
discontinued in 1869, because the teachers failed to mest all
the requirements. Albach received a call to the general high
school in 1871, but declined it. He continued to teach the
Upper grades until his retirement on June 23, 1889. It is
believed vhat lamanuel Academy continued for some time be-
Cause Prolessor W. He Behrens said he "attended the Immanuel

=T 2
Academy under Albach from 1881 to 1884." 2

““Stellnorn, op. git., pp. 420f.




CHAFTER IV
BUZHENE BUBHGERSCHULE, 1857

e begin now the chapter which 1s the story of the
first Lutheran High School. Although the two previous
institutilons may not entirely be divorced from thle cat-
€gory, they falled to meet such qualifications in name only.
Rather than call the precent Ainstitution a Lutheran High
School we shall refer to it as it was origlinally, Hoehere
§U_Ez,£g_gschule.

Cur story may be begun with mixed ewotions. On the
one hand 1%t i1s a sad story, because the line of higher
Bchoo! education 1g a broken one. This new atteumpt rep-
Fesents the {alth our founding-fathers and their followers
had in the wmatter of Chrlstlan education. They never rel-

egated themeelves to Indifference, but alwaye attempted to

take bigzer steps forward. Such steps were remariable in
the 1lighat of past history. Fastor &iller's private school
tad endured success for tws years, wnen flnally it became
a flnancial burden. Immanuel Academy existed as a valu-
able 1lnstitutlon for a little over tarce decades. This
can be attributed in part to the mighty 1nfluecnce of Dr.

C. F. u. uwalther, who endeavored to advance the Academy's

cause whnenever and nowever posaible.l Yet, this adventure

1A. C. Stellhorn, "Lutheran 3econdary Education in St.
Loule," Lutherau Education, LXiXV (February, 1950), 278.
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did not advance, bscause support from the St. Louis Lutherans
in general was not behind it. We roferred previously to the
nuber of pupils available for this school, but yet the en-
rollment was not outstanding, Somehow, the feeling nmust
have spresd chat Immanuel Academy was only a local project,
tven vhouph numerous exhortations to the conirary ars re-
corced in the "Lutheraner."

It was in 1503 that there was a desire expressed to
have a Cencral Academy, even though Immanuel Academy had
decn in coperation for six years.z Once again, we may give
@ brici historical setiing, The year 1863 was the mid-
point of the Civil War. %“his was also two years after the
uymnasium of Uoncordia College in 3t. Louis had becn moved
Lo For% uayne, landiana., The Fort VWayne Seninary, with its
Proseminary had also moved to St. Louis. This interchanpge

ple to feel the need of a2 more complateinsti-

-

caused some PO
tution than lmmenuel Academy afforded.

However, Immanuel Academy refused to clese its doors,
Decausc it fell itself quite adequate. It was for this
reason that Pastor Albach declined the call sent to him
by the Genecral Academy. Bven though the nembers of the
other congregations felt the need for the General Academy,
Immanuel stood her ground., It was the former's opinion

that the German Lutherans were being swallowed up by

dbid.
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Secular higher schools, so in order to better indoctrinate
bhelr youns, a higher school, based on Christian principles,
Was greatly in demamnd. Furthermore, such a school could
be a "feeder” for the Gymnasium in Fort Wayne. In this
Way, the studenus could skip the Sexta and Quinta years at
Forv Gayne, and bepin at Luarta, the way the students from
lunznuel Academy were already doing.3

{ne aforementioned matters were all discussed in a
meeLing ol uvhe General Congregation, consisting of the
following Listricts: Trinivy, Immanuel, Holy Cross, and
4ion. Uliimately, a proposition was made that the pro-
fessors of Lhe two seminaries and about four businessmen
form a commiitiee vo draw up plans for a General Academy.
lhe proposal that caused Immanuel District to keep its
school open was one in which it was suggested that the
General academy ve combined with the Proseminary, or pre=
paraiory deparimenc, of the Fractical Theological Seminary.
We have mentioned the chaage in seminaries that occurred
in 180l. 1The Sv. Louis Gymnasium, or college department,
Was transierred vo Fort liayne, Indiana, and the Fort VWayne
rracitical theological Seminary, with its Proseminar, or
preparatory department, to St. Louis and combined with the
seminary departmeat there. %The proposaed combination of

General Academy and rroseminary afforded the preparatory

3ibid., pe 279
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deparvment an excellent opportunity, especially if Pastor
Albacn were to teach in it. 1t was resolved to establish
Such a school, unich was Lo serve as a Progymnasium. The
barenis were urged Lo send their sons .o such a school. IT
the number would be greav enough, the school would be 6penad
at once.”

but the school did not open. 7The proposal had failed,
some o the reasons for the failure of the first attempt at
2 ueneral academy might be: (1) Failure of Immanuel Academy
o close; (2) nefusal of Immanuel to let Pastor Albach gZo:
\3) ihe special organizational committee failed to function.
lhey gave no report of any kind, not even the listing of the
ausssr of prospective studenvs; (4) The failure of the
pecple Lo heed the dire request of January, 1864, for good
Uhiristian educacion. So ended the initial attempt, and
proceedings were Lo lie dormant for almost seventeen months.s

The idea of a high school for boys was laid aside for
the tiwme beiny, but attention was directed now to some sort

of a nigher school for girls. The problem weighed heavily

upon some of the members of the General Congregation, be-

cause they were witnessing a distressing fact. Since there

Wwas no higher scnool ior girls of Lutheran parents, the

bIbid.
31oid., p. 280.
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&irls were sent to other schools. The General Congrega-
tion considered this very dangorous because one of the
Possipiliiiecs chosen by Lutheran parents was to send their
Gaughiers Lo loman Catholic institutions. Because of this,
they felv the girls were being led gradually to become in-
diff'erent in vhe confession of the truth. These facts were
pPoinied ocut quite vehcomently, with tne view for the estab-
lisiwent ol a hipher school of their own faith. Another
CLpnusis was in the direccion of including the arts and
Scieuces in tae curriculum, because they, too, were gifts
Ol God and siould be used to His glory.

wuch an iasvitution was needed for the girls, but a
Similar one was very urgent for the boys. Since the nec-
@ssary Loacners and the financial means were not available
&t thav vime, plans did not materialize for the boys. The
Story was quite different for tne girls. ‘The expense would
Ve less aad Lne necessary teackers were alrcady available
50 that a higher school for girls could be opened. Piqued
Oy cvhe last failure, the congregation was in favor of such
& move, mainly because of the presence of adequate teachers.
sucii adequacy was found in the persons of lMr. and lirs. von
fdenner. Yhey were suitable and, above all, interested in

such a school.7 Ffurther identification of this couple

Clbid.

Tipbid,, pp. 280-1.
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Cannot be ascervained by the author.

ihe proposed institution was not to be a private en-
QEaveor ol oue coagregation, buv was to have the full sup-
POrL ol iLae¢ eavire General Congregation. For that reason
8 rlanning: Commiutee was appointed, coansisting of members
Lrom sach of tae four Uistricts. There were eight from
damanuel, eijht from Trinivy, five from loly Cross, and
four Lrom sion. those members arrived at the following
plans: ‘'lhe moruning sossion was te be three hours loag,
aevoveu Lo wae english and vhe German Language, with some
lastrucvion in history and geography. The two hours in the
aliernoon were devoued vo women's handicraft. Tuition was
SCL L L J.00 per montn for both sessions, or <2.00 per
monLh for eibher the morning or the afternoon sassion.
e weaeral Congregation set out originally to provide
relijious instrucvion for their girls, but in the proposals

ol whe rlanaing vopmiivtee there is nothing mentioned about
provicing such ipsiruction. Their original intentions were
20¢ feliillea,

pinthusiasn for the instituvion ran very high. Even
immanuel Districu, which earlier in 1858, had contemplated
the opening of a girls' class in kandiwork in connection
with icvs Academy, showed great imtezrest. Tney provided

ten girls aad 2 donation of ¢200 for the school. The other

SIbid., p. 281.
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blstricts also conuributed. Zion was able to send two
8irls, snd lviaity siz. Holy Cross District did not pro-
vide any sirls, but donaved 450 to tha institution. In
order Lo iaciwase their own enthusiasm for the institu-
tion, the congrepgacions were directed to notice the enthu-
Siasm oi the domun vatiholics for similar iastitutions.
ihe ided was rather compevptive in nature. Attention was
also wirecued Lo Lhe maverial blessings the people had re-
¢edvec Lrom Jhie Lord's hand. In gratitude, therefors, such
an iasuituilon should be established and supported i}y Lhem
ior Lis greaver glory. 7The discussion on the topic was
Very cxiensive, but a definite resolution was not passed.
vad Lo say, in ohe {inal analysis, the girls' school did
oL m-‘.!.b's;"'.LéLl.:'.:&‘E.:J

ihe subjecu of a high schiool remains dormant for

anothcr year, However, conditions arose which revitalized
the suuvject. The faculty of Concordia College, Fort Wayne,
Teporved to rFrofessor salther that their attendance was
inereasing vo the exteat that it was necessary to erect
anotner builuinge. Ihe increase was due, in the main, to
the numver oif younger students. Fort Wayne suggested, as

& soluvion to the problem, that the larger cities establish
schools wiih a Lavin course, so that the students from

tiiese schools might enter Fort wWayne in the Juarta year.

21bid.
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This was amuunition for Dr. Walther. The proposal meant
vhav the school could have a two-fold purpose, namely, to
Propurs siucents Lor the ministry, as well as other secu-
lar occupaiions. Furthermore, chis schéol was intended to

R o ; ; 10
V¢ sell-gupporting, and not a burden to the congregation.

1L was z2lso proposed that situdents be boarded in pri-

Vate howcs which would eliminate their living in a crowded

College siivuation. Inhe parencs would also be responsible
Lor such arrangients. Such a proposal received an added
suggescion Lrom Pasitor J. F. Duenger. He contended that

il Sne congregavion did nou want to erect buildings for the
UOY¥s, anu was interested only in preparing them for Fort
wayne, the lunanuel Districb would be happy to provide such

Lrdining in ius own Academy. But this proposal was not

agrecable, since the General Congregation felt that it
Sioulu Laxke wmalters into its own hand, and since the in- .
Lerest was so wide-spread. In view of this a committee,
consisving of eignt laymen and all the pastors and pro-
fessors, was appoinced to establish a higher school with
a Latin cluss.ll

Encouragement for such an institution was given by
the Sv. salvator Coagrezation of Venedy, Illinois, who

wished the school to be established there, and even offered

101054, p. 282,
l1pi4.
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Lo erect & builuing for 48000, This congregation had been
known as Llkorn Prairie up vo 1861 and was served by the
fiev, Oulomar Fuerbringer from 1840 to 1850 and by the Rev.
Yaul bawagurt, brovher-in-law of Pastor J. W. Albach, since
1850, Such a gesiure caused a stir in St. Louis. The
fecling was thav if a rural congregation could be so in-

Leresveu, the people of this city should be all the more

- 2

inilcrested, %

VilCe 4 aln, we see the initiative taken by Dr, C. F.
“e wallher, wno, very soon after the General Congregational
Meeliay in June, 1866, set vhe initial mecting and ar-
rangea vioe course ouvline for such a school. This report
i6, avove all, {illed with Dr. Walther's philosophy of
vurisiian education. He wrote this in behalf of a local
Supporviag, association of the proposed high school. Ac-
Coraing vo the reporv, vhe school was to open October 1,
1866, ‘he course of instruction was quite similar to that
ol tne¢ lmmanuel Academy. 1t was the hope, with the Lord's
olessing, to increase the curriculum to a four-year course
in Lae near iuture. At present, for the two=-year- course,
Uile Yollowing courses were ofiered: HReligion, German and
kaglish language, general, American and German history and
geography, mathematics, natural hislory and science, book-

keeping, drawing, singing, and gymnastics. A salary of

121pid., p. 283
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#1200 per year was offered to a capable teacher, and the
Students would be charped 40 per year tuition. The head
teacher was to have at least threc or four assistant
Leachers. weligious instruction would be given by Pastor
Jo Me Go schaller of Trinity, in whose district the school
would be located. Until chere would be more out-of-town
Situdents, board and room would not be provided by the insti-
Lution. waliher urged parents vo place their request early,
in order chat vie school could open on the setv date. Wal-
vier listed as entrance requirements for students the fol-
lowing: (1) He a confirmed member of the Lutheran Church;
(2) Be avle to read CGerman fluently; (3) Be able to take
dictation; (4) Be acquainted with the four species in
arivhmetic; (5) Be willing vo submit to the Christian
discipline of the .‘.ichool.l3

The term used throughout the article to describe the
forthcoming new institution is Hoghere Buergerschule.lh
Literally, this term has the meaning of a "higher school
for citizens." Following Ur. Walther's article closely,

the "high school,” as we know it, is probably a suitable

english translation. Even though the curriculum included

training for future secular callings, Dr, Walther especially

130. Fo W. Walther, "Vorlaeufige Nachricht und Auf-
lorcerung betreiis einer zu errichtenden deutschen evan,.
luth. hoehere Buergerschule szu St. Louis, lo.,” Der Luth-
eraner, XXII (iugust 1, 1866), 1lEl-2,

Le1p1a.



&3
Urged the local parents to send their sons here in order
Lo train them for the ministry, since a Latin course was
Oifercd for this purpose.

Unce again, plans did notv materialize as expected.
lhere are 4ood reasons why there should have been success
ratier than failure. 7There was enough enthusiasm for at
least a nuuble beginning. The appeal that went out in the
“Lutheraner® py Lr. halther, the leader in Synod and in
“Le Louls, surely should have aroused support from the
parents. severtheless, Ur. walther had been foiled again.
Hobhing whutever is reported for a year.ls The high school
issue remained dormant again.

48 Lne swuner of 1807 approached, Dr. Walther renewed
his eilort for a high school. A decisive meeting was held
in which a regular High Schwol Association was formed by
Lhe General Congregation. Possibly Professor Witte, about
whom nothing further is definitely known, was selected as
the first principal of the school. Considerable debate
Was neld over who should be called as additional teachers.
Finally, feachers A. F. Brackmann and C. Krauss were se-
lected. Other weighty matters were before them, The chief
of these was adeguate support by the people for the insti-
tution. 7his meeling was a "pep talk" in that direction.

Additional reasous were directed to the parents, in view

15dtellhorn, op. cit., p. 286,
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of the dangers to which the young people were exposed after
Whelr confiruation. 7They were told to think seriously about
@ training lor uvheir children for later life. This meeting
Must, finally, have impressed upon the pzople the importance
ol che instivulion. fThercaitver, Dr. Walther's plan for a
4igh scrnool ook rool and began to grow.

in 1looe ur. walther staved that the institution had
veen in operatvion now for a year. He applied the German
FLOVerv Lo the instiiuvion, "Aller Anfang ist schwer.” The
former teacher had been cngaged for only a year, with two
¢lemencary school veachers as assistants. The reason was
4 Linanciul one. Wow, however, shey had secured Professor
As Yo Draczmann, as director, formerly a professor at the
dsarylaad State Undversity, who was also an excellent philol=-
Ozlsve Lhe sscoad Leacher they acquired was Teacher C.
Liduss, also a very capable man-l7 He was said to be very
004 in maithemaities, in vhe arts and sciences, and under-
Stocd mechauics, all of which he was particularly gifted
Lo teauh.ld Pasior J. M. G. Schaller would also continue
W provide tiie religious instruction. Details of finding

quariers Lor oui=of=town boys, of the course of study, of

l°1bid., PPe 230=91.

3 170. ¥. «. walther, "bDie deutsche ev. Luth. hoehere
buergerschule zu St. Louis, lio.,” Der Lutheraner, XIXIV
{dugussy 1, 1863), 133.

135te1lhorn, op. cite, Po 290.




k5

buition, and of the entrance requirements were repeated from
the previous year. ihe sscond new school yvear would begin
veptember 1, 1Ju6,19 at 716 Barry Street, adjacent to Trin-
icy bhurct.ﬁu iwenvy days later Dr. Lalther delivered the
@ddress at the second opening of the Hoehere Buergerschula,
in the assembly hall of Trinity Church,zl where, presumably,
tie school sessions were held.22

“e learn that girls were admitted to the institution
on vevober L, 1866, Pastor J. M. (3. Schaller, in his ad-
aress aiv uvne opening of the logehere Toechterschule, re-
Jolced in vhe fact that parents didn't have to send their
Uskgaiers wvo non-Lutheran schools anymore. A continuation
ol their education could now be made after confirmation.
the ecducaivion of this instvitution would be toward the de-
velopment of latenc talents, given by God. The German

language would be sspecially stressed because Schaller

19¢. e we walther, "Die deutsche eve. luth. hoehere

Busrgersciiule su Su. Louls, Mo.,"™ Der Lutheraner, XIXIV

(Augusi 1, 1869), 153.
auﬁ.rthur U. Leutheusser, "The Founding, flise and Ex-
tinction of walvher College,” unpublished manuscript in
lhe posssssion oi ur, Garl 3. Heyer, Concordia Theological
veéninary, Jt. Louis, iMissouri, p. 2.

2L, F. Wa ﬁ[;lbheé], "Rede zur Felier der Wieder-
erocffnung der deutschen ev. luth. koeheren Buergerschule
Zu ot. Louis, io., gehalten im Versammlungs-Saale der
Dreieinigkeitsgemeinde daselbst, den 20. September 1868,"
Uer Lutheraner, iiV (October 1, 1863), 17.

zzﬂﬂg St. Louis Lutheran, I (November 18, 1945), 8.
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Vozsted that it was the most superior language of the time,
Since iv was ricn in the classics of science, art, postry,
and hisvory. However, love for the language is not gained
without stucying iv. Bnglish would also be learned, be-
Cause It was vhe language of the land in which they were
livi““.23

Ihce report by Professor A. F. Brackmann in 1868 stated
Lhat the school was in very good condition, with an enroll-
denk oy thirvy-five boys. He, too, mentioned the fact that

the lgchnere Touchuerschule, a high school for girls, had be-

Ui opersiion in the fall, with twenty=four girls in attend-
ange. He listed the tuition for the boys as $40 per year
and 420 per year for the girls, He quickly added that a
Couplece gymnasium had been made available, for the exercise
and development of the boys.zk

we learn that, financially, the first two years wers
very difticult. Several years later, in 1870, Dr. Walther
once nors urgeu adequate support of the school. If this did

0ot vake place, he felt the institution would collapse.

23g. Schaller, "dede bel der Erceffnung der hoeheren
foechterschule der Evang. Luth. Dreieinigkeitsgemeinde zu
ot. Louis, am l. October 1868," Der Lutheraner Beiblatt,
XAV (Hovember 1, 1568), l=k.

2#A. ¥, Brackmann, "dittheilungen ueber unsere hoe-
here Bildungsschulen," Der Lutheraner, XXV (December 15,
1368)' 62-30
25 august R The Heart of Missouri (St. Louis:
gust K. Suelflow e Heart o sou » Louis:
Goncordia Publishing House, 195471, Ps 12ka
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On Gctower 3, 1870, A. C. Durgdorf was called to the
Stail oi' the Hoehere Buergerachule and became the director
0L Lne instiiution,

August v. Durgdorf was vora July 12, 18338, at Lut-
Lrum, danover, Germany, a son of Heinrich Burgdorf,
@ tailor, and his wife Henriette. lie came to Amer=-
ice and ot. Louwis wivh his parents in 1844, attended
parocnial scnool in S¢. Louis, and entered Con-
Coruia Collese thoere in 1851, at the age ol thir-
tcene 10 is assumed that he graduated in 1862
\She graduation records for that one year are miesg-
iag); « « « he worked "for several years" in vari-
CGwi business places av fea Bud, Illinois, because
Ol uurouat trouble; also, he married riiss Wilhel-
nine urockmeyer oi Red Bud in 1662, In 1364 he
sccame the first regular teacher of St. John's
wehiool in Hed Sud. In 1805 he accepted a call as
veacher ol 4ion School in St. Louis and served
viiere wavil 1870. On Ocv. 3, 1870, he became
direcvor ol vhe "iHoehere Buergerschule® (Lutheran
High ochool) in St. Louls and served in that ca-
pacivy and as director of Walther College (from
1529 on) eill 1907, when he was succeeded by Prof.
Arciaur J. Leutheusser, 1907-11, and Pastor Eugene
Harms, 1911-16, But burgdorf continued on the
Laculty, veacaing mostly German and Latin, until
1914, Lwo years before the instituvion closed
\1lYlGj. In nis retirement he lived with a
daughier at Springfield, Hissouri, wheres he
died June 14, 1930, age almost 92 and totally
Dlinde. « « o 20
vther scvaif members by 1873, in addition to Burgdorf
Were: A. Lo Craebmer, #irs. Ada Kasler, and Miss Anna
27

Freunda,

the aAssociation was encouraged that with the Lord's

20
107-8 ®
270. F. W, Walther, "Die evangelisch lutherische Hoe-

here Buergerschule zu St. Louis, Fo.," Der Lutheraner,
X{IX (april 1, 1873), 101.

Ae C. Stellhorn, oize cit., LXXXIV (October, 1948),

St &
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bleasi“a. the Inetitution would continue to succeed. The

curriculum was revised 1n 1870 in order to place an empha-
ele on some practical asubjects. OSpecial interest would also
be devoted to the English language. The tuition was reduced
to 430 per year in order to encourage a larger attendance.28
The achool day for boys began at elght and continued

for an hour and fifteen minutes in the afterncon. There

| Wag no class for them on Saturday. The girls attended ses-
Blons frow two to five in the afternmcon, including Saturday.
There was 2 two-year course for boys, and a one-year course
for girls. 1Ihe curriculum for the, boys comsisted of the
following: Keligion, German, English, Latin, history, geog-
rapby, natural history, physice, nathematics, bookkeeping,
Penmanshlp, and drawlng. For the girls there was Englisn,
Gercan, geogragny, history, arithmetic, penmanship, drawing,
and hundicraft.ag

There were two times during the year when enrollment
by a student could be made, either shortly after Easter or

at the beginning of Seytem‘ber.30 we have only two reporte

that pertain to the size of the enrollment at any time.

230. Schaller, "Die hoehere Buergerschule in 5t. Louls,"

Der Lutheraner, AxVII (Cctober 15, 1870), 3l.

29
Bericht ueber die evangelisch lutheriache lioghere
Buercerschule und dle damit verbundene Hoehere Toechter-
Bchule zu S5t. Louls, Ko. 3t. Louis: Druckerei der Synode
von Kiseouri, Chio u. a. Staaten, 1873, p. 8. Hereafter

cited as Bericht.
Omia., . 7-
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One of these 1z in 1874, in which the enrollment 1s an-
nounced to be forty-two boys and twenty-seven Elrla.31
Then, again, in 1835, there ie a brief remark that at that
tiwe, there was an enrollment of fort]-oné studente, nine-
teen of whom were taking the Latin course in preparation
for the uini;try.32 The report concerning the school in
1873 1e aleo quite helpful 1n repgard to a sawpling of en-
figures. During the school year, 1872 to 1873,
there were eight boys in the first clasas, twenty-four in
the zecond class, and fourteen girls. The total number
of boye that went to echool from 1858 to 1872 was 128,
and the total aumber of girls wae f!rty-five.33

The cost of attending the inetitution wae cuite sta-
tlonary, with only slight fluctuations. The major costs
were for tuiltion and for board and room. The tultion for
€irls rewained at 20 per year for 1‘37134 and 1872.35 but
raised sllghtly to 424 per year in 1877.2° The tultlon for

51

2R 10 Burgdorf, "Die evangelisch lutherische Hoe-
here Buergerschule und die Gamit verbundene Hoehere Toech-
terschule zu St. Louis, Fo.," Der Lutheraner, XXX (Feb-
rvary 1%, 1874j, 3C.

*2Der Lutheraner, ALII (October 1, 1885), 148.
353er1gh§, pp. l4-5.
3€Qgg Lutheraner, XaVII (august 15, 1871), 132.

35, Schaller, "hvangellech Lutherische hoshere Buer-

gerschule in 5t. Louls,” Der Lutheranmer, £ivVIII (August 15,
1872), 174.

35 per Lutheraner, X4xIII (August 15, 1877), 127.
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boys also remained au a constant Ligure, namely 440 per
an
year.?? inere was one change, however, in 1877. 7The tui=-

tion for boys who were from member cougregations was reducced
38

Lo 24 per year; other boys had to pay 432 per year. Very

Soon ilherafter, uhe former figure was renewed. Board and

Foom lecu scemed Lo fluctuate from year to year, but noth-

ihg vhai was outstanding. Yhe fee was gl per month for

Lhe period lSijy vhroush 1377,40 decreased to 12 per month

in lu?a,*l rose slightly to w13 per month in 12432’:‘2,‘"2 and was

back to 12 per month in 1383.43

as we approach the time of the ualther College, the
preseat iasiitulion under consideration gradually shows a
Gctamorpuosis with regard to its name. For a little over

& decade the school is known as the hochere Buergerschule.

ihen, in 1676, the name of the institution is changed to

Ter Lutheraner, aXVI1LI (August 15, 1872), 174.

Sl Brauer, "Die evangelisch lutherische Hoehere
una aie damit verbuudene Hoehere Toechterschule zu St.
Louis, o.," Uer Lutheraner, ZiXIil (larch 1, 1877), 39.

3Y%yer Luvheraner, XiV1LI (August 15, 1872), 174.

4Oep Luvheraner, Xixlll (¥arch 1, 1877), 39.
) 41&. C. Burgdori', "Uie Concordia Academie und die
lioehere Toechterschule zu St. Louis, Mo.," Der Lutheraner,
L4X1V (Augustc 1, 1878), 119.

42,. c. Burgdorf, "Die Lutherische Hochschule zu St.
louis, iio.," Der Luivheraaecr, AziVIII (March 15, 1882), 46.

#3Ibid,, Xikix (August 1, 1883), 118,




51
"Die Concordia Academie und die Hoehere Toechterschule zu
g = ’ .J (71} - s
vle Louis, o o ke There is, however, no change in the aim

ana purpose of the school, nor in its fees charged, nor in

[ XY
cF
7]

curricului,.
Ihen, in 1879, the name was shortened to "Die Concor-
dia akademie zu ot. Louis, Ho , 1+
fhe final change in name occurred in 1881. At that
time the change strikes a familiar chord to our ears. It
Was changed to "uie Lutherische Hochschule zu St. Louis,
loo™ 9  Lith the rensuming of this institution as the Lu=-
Cheran High school of St. Louis, we now direct our attention
Lo ihe .alther College, under which name the former insti-

tution began operating in 1889.

“%.. C. Burgdorf, "Uie Concordia Academie und die Hoe-
derc doschierschule zu St. Louis, Mo.,” Der Lutheraner,
AdalV (april 1, 1878), 55.

e . Burgdorf, "Die Concordia Akademie zZu St. Louis,
104 ," Der Lutheraner, XiiV (August 1, 1879), 119.

_ 4“&. C. Burgdorf, "Die Lutherische Hochschule zu St,
Louis, [io.," Der Lutheraner, XXiVIl (August 1, 18381), 119,




CHAPTER V
wALTHER COLLLGE, 1289

of Sv. Louis Lutherans, held on October 1%,

(&)

In a meetin
1687, an organization was formed for the purpose of cstab-
lishing, an insuvituiion of higher learning. The members of
Lils or anicacion were looking for a school to accommodate
an enlared cu.endance. They also desired a school with a
ivr'e auvancea curriculum, a proper location, one with ade-
Quate bulilcings and dormivories Lo house students living
Beyond Lhe limits of ihe city.l This socioty was later in-
Colporaven unuer Ghe nane of the "ialther College Associ-

3

alion." Iy appeared that the school was regarded as a

Coniinualion or development of the Hoechere Busrserschule
founded oy uUr. C. F. W. walther in 1867.

Presiueat August C. Burgdorf announced the opening of
walihiur College in the fall, September 11, 1339.3 The aim
and purpose ol Lhais iastituiion, he said, was to prepare

young people bLetuer for a secular calling. Because of space

lﬁr;hur U. Leuiheusser, "The Founding, Rise and Extinc-
Lioa of walilier College," unpublished manuscript in the pos=-
Secsion or Dr. Carl 3. kheyer, Concordia Theological Seminary,
. Louis, lilssouri, p. 2.

24he St. Louis Lutheran, I (December 2, 1945), 6.

e

3 34. G. burgdorf, "Das Walther College zu St., Louis,”
Der Luthoraner, ALV (August 13, 1889), 135,
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and perscnnel they began with only the two lower classes and
“oped to expand in the future. The students that hoped to
eliler wore cxpecited Lo read and write English and CGerman,
and be proficienty in mathematics with the four species.
ihe tuition for the lower class was $50 per year and

“75 per year for the upper class. Students that came from

@ distance lived in a boarding-house and were under the
dirzel supervision of the president. Hot only did they live
in the president's house, buc they atve at his table. The
LWolzl cost for board and room for the lower class was $200
2= yesr aad 4225 per year for the upper class. These fig-
res lucluded meals, furnished rooms, servants! attendance,
balh, fuel, und light. Quarterly reporvs of the deportment,
Allctuance, standing, and progress of sach pupll were made
Oue and lorwarded to the parents or guardians.

in order vo safe=-guard financlal stability, ten-dollar

Loa~-igvcresv~bearing bonds were issued until the sum of
25,000 had been accumulated. A building was erected which
included a boardiag hall for boys. No action was taken until
w2U,000 of the previously scated amount had been received.
shen the surplus irom tuition permitted, the original in-

vestmenius were vo be repaid.

4ﬁalthur College Association. St. Louis, 1839, p. 23,

5¢. J. Otto Hanser, "&v. lutherisches Walther College,"
Der Lutheraner, iALLV (February 14, 1888), 29.

S - - .
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wallher Collepge first inhabited the building of the old
Lutheran high school at 716 Barry Sr.reet,6 "in the neighbor-
hood of the old high school."7 Classes were held here from
veplember 11, 1839, to February 10, 1890.8 After 520,000
wWoreh oX oonds had been sold, the school was moved to 1033
“ouli: Lighih ourect and was occupied on February 10, 1890.9
ihis properiy, bounded by Gighth, Chouteau, Hickory, and Paul
slriects, measured 350 by 145 feet. The plot, containing a
large mansion, was valued at $60,000. The building haé been
burchascd by the Association on March 18, 1889, at a cost of

= 10
\-‘l'}’ F] DUU ]

A second building, dedicated February 9, 1890,
provided administrative and classroom facilities. A third
building, opened on Seplember 2, 1895, was used for instruct-
ing girls in embroidery and fancy work.

An Associavion to support the school was formed on Dec-

: 12
ember 14, 1led7, with Henry F. Hueller, president, and

1898 bdalgﬁgg College Catalog, ninth academic year, 1897-
©J6, P. 5.

> 71: LE-;.anci;_-;] ﬂeperﬂ, "Das eve luch. Walther College zu
St. Louis, lio.," Usr Lutheraner, XLV (April 9, 1889), &0.

: bAugust it Suelflow, The Heart of Missouri (St. Louis:
Concordia rublishing House, 19 s De .

<
%ﬂﬂ;uhﬂr College Cataloy, op. cit., P. 5.
10yor Lutheraner, XLV (April 9, 1889), &0.

llduelflow, Ops ©iGey Po 126.

lzi‘a'alther College Catalog, tenth academic yecar, 1899-
1900, p. ©O.
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d. C. Bohuetz, secretary and treasurer.L.?

A Germun pamphlet was circulated at this time in which
1t was stated that girls would also be admitted. The insti-
tutlon would ald those who wlshed to sursue a broader edu-
catlon 1n women's handicraft and fancy work. The pamphlet
Feiterated that walther College would be a boarding-school
for boye, providing board, room, and excellent supervision
by the teachers., An attempt would be made to zeep the cost
a8 low as poselble 1n order that this institution would be
A greater service for both church and atate.l4

e have another announcement about the institution by
the lev. C. J. Ctto Banser of Cld Trinity congregation in
St. Louls. He stated that the St; Louls Hoehere Euerser-
Schule, which during the past twenty years had graduated a
large gusber of students who had entered the service of the
church and state, had, in spite of many difficulties, pros- :
PFered to such an extent that additiomal courses would be of-
fered in the fall of 1888 to the curriculum of the institu-
tlon now called .alther College. There would be the addi-
tlon of the “claseical” course to the present "academic"

course. The school was to be nawed iWalther College "in

1;§gg Lutheraner, XLIV (February 14, 1888}, 29.
1430 dle Glleder unserer ev. lutherischen Gemeinden,

clreular 1ssueé by the Board of Directors, Walther College,
3t. Louls, Hissouri, n.p., n.d. Hereafter cited as Ap

die Glieder.
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éverlaztlin; memory of its founder, Lr. C. &. i ualther."ls

It was, furthermore, explained in thie pamphlet why the
nawe walther College was chosen for the inetitution. Fri-
marily, it woe named for Dr. C. F. W. walther, who had showed
untiring intereet in such an institution, and because ne had
Written much in favor of it. The name "College" was. chosen
to differentiate it from other Synodlcal Gymnasia, of waich
there were a surficient number. The name "Collegs”" dGesig-
nated a higher school. This school would offer 2 three-
fold ccursze, the academic, the classical, and the sclentific.
"hereas, other Synodical schools were geared to tﬁe ministe-
¥lal profcealon, ualther College would trainm young people
for secular callings, such as doctore, lawyers, ergineers,
archltects, chemlsts, editors, and also for civie offices
in the ﬁtate.ls Thus, Dr. Francis Flepger could speak of

wilther College as belng eomething much more than an exten-

Elon and expansion of the Hochere Buergerschule that the
7

elty had twenty years previoualy.l
Original plane consisted of opening the school in Sep-

terber, 1888, but this falled. Edmund Seuel, cecured to

teack at walther College, arrived in St. Louls in October,

1888, The following winter F. Fleper, A. L. Graebner, and

15per Lutheraner, XLIV (February 14, 1888), 29.

1620 d1e Glieder.
17ier Lutheraner, #iv (April 9, 1889}, 6C.
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Seuel reorzanized the schosl. Original plans included a
Vaet currliculum, in view of what finally wasz resclved upon.
They anticirated having a wedical and law faculty, but not
a8 theological faculty. These plane were mever carried out.18

frofessor 4. C. Burgdorf, who had headed the former

Hoehere Buercerschule, continued ae president of walther

College from 1889 to 1907.19 The College began in 1889, with
two classes, and continued thie arrangement until 1891. 4

third class was added then, and the fourth claes was added

& year later, in 1892.20

The rev. Edmund Seuel, later for many years head of
Concordia ublishing rfouse, was nawed principal and was con-
Nected with the eschool for sineteen years.al He wae btorn on
arril 21, 1255, at Vincennes, Indlana. His education was

acquired by attending Synodical schools. He atternded Con-

cordia College, Fort viayne, Indiana, and Concordia Seminary,

St. Louis, iissourl, from which he graduated in 1835. He

wae pasgtor and uissclionary at large at Ogallala, Lebrasiza,
from 1835 to 18233. He ecrved frow 1914 to 1942 as a member

of the Board of Lirectors of the Lutheran Church--Kissouril

IBSuelflow, op. git., p. 125,
197pe st. Louls Lutheran, I, S.

20,01 the Cullege Catalor, seventeenth academic year,
1905-1905, 2. 5.

2lone st. Louls Lutheram, I, S.
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Synod. He was also co-founder of the Lutheran Laymen's
Leagzue. He received two doctorate degrees, ome from Con-
cordla Seminary, St. Loule, In 1535, and the other from
Valparaiss Unlversity, Valparaleo, Indlana, aleo in 1935.
He dled oo kay 2, 195 -22

Besides Burgdorf and Seuel, the weubers of the faculty
at one tiue or ancther conelsted of the following: 4. O.
Leutheuszer, F. Znauth, F. Brinkman, Thec. Graebner, iill-
liam Littuwer, [. Iriesse, Theo. rFleper, Dr. E. Kueiler, Alice
Holdeway, K. Hadrean, Ernest [ose, E. H. Hechlln, iilss Aa.
Cramme, i.ice Ida #alz, . F. Sachs, Eugene Harms, who later
becaune the nresldent, the Hev. Kartin 5. Sommer, A&. Bergmanm,
A. Loeber, the Hev. A, Wilk, and C. A. Eehnke, who waes a
gtudent a:sistunt.23

4 new bullding was erected for administration purroses
and clacercowsz. Thie building aleo contalned a spacious
Eymnasiuw. The buillding had been constructed according to
the lateet i1deas in school architecture and all the furnish-
Inge were of modern date. The ventilating and heating ap-
Pliances were in perfect condition. The school, at that
time, accommodated nearly 200 students. A generous donation

enabled the #Association to add a third large bullding, which

22
; Lutheran Cyclopedia, Erwin L. Lueker, editor in chief
(5t. Louls: Concordia rubiishins House, 1954), pr. 971.

®tnwe 5t. Louls Lutheran, I, 6.
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Wwas opened on September 2, 1896, and was used chiefly for
"the instruction of female students in embroidery and fancy

Work. Il2 .

The new school bullding was dedicated on February 9,
189C. The dedication eervice took place in Trinity Churck,
with laetor C. J. Ctto Hanser preaching on Jeremian 29:7:
"And geek the pemce of the city whither I have causzed you
to be carrled away captives, and pray unto the Lord for it:
for in the peace thereof shall ye have peace.” The new
bullding contalned five clacsrcome, two accoxmodating sixty
students each, and the other three, about thirty-five pupils

€ach. In addition to tne gymnasium, there was aleo a labo-

ratarg.ad
The wajor courses were in the sclentific, the English,
and the coumerclal areae. Shorthand and typing were offered

a8 electives. It was the rule of the institution that reli-

Elous ipetruction was given in all c1a=sea. Anong the grad-
uates of the earliiler daye were men and wowen well-known in

the hlgtory of S5t. Louls ané its Lutheran churches, as well

A8 ninistere in the Lutheran Church. There were students

aleo frow Illinols, Iowa, Nebragcka, Kansas, wisconsin, Indiana,

26

Elchigan, renneylvania, and Kexico.

..IIIlII-------------r*

241p1q.

23,. e raebne;] "4alther Colleze,” Der Lutheraner, A.vI
(April 3 1 u)' Y :

an S8t. Louis Lutheran, I, 6.
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lhe marvelous increase in pupil attendance in 1890,

Caused Lhe doura of Directors to call a third professor,

Or. Emil Mueller, {rom reoria, lllinois. The imstitution

Wa&s happy uhat he gcceplad the c.--.‘.ll.27 Enrollment continued
Lo climb in 18Yl. The tolal number of students then stood

&t eijhuy-live, with an outlook for more immediately after
Baster," A picture of the faculty aboui the year 1893, shows
the followin: members: Be Seuel, T. ituhland, A. C. Burgdorf,
de Us Leulheusser, and F. Brini:mann.z-

The graduates of the institution were proud of their
8Chool und aviompited to show it by forming an Alumni Asso-
Ciation ia dJanuary, 1907.30 The purpose of the Association
Was Lo promoue sociubility and friendship among the grad-
“dles, as well as o further and be concerned about the in-
veresve of uthe institution.

Waliher Uollege was accredived by the North Central
ASsociztion of Uolleges and Secondary Schools in 1909-31

By 1913 the institution could offer courses in nine different

areas: academic, scieantific, modern language, normal,

»

7_1&; Lutheraner, XLV1 (July 29, 1890), 130.
“S1bid. (sarch 17, 1891), pe 47.

: From the walther College files in Concordia Historical
Insvivute, Su, Louis, Missouri.

29

30- o "y -f h d i -
Walther College Catalog, twenty-fourth academic year,
1913-19T%, p. 21.

Hipig. , Lwenticih academic year, 1909-1910, p. 7.
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Commercial, shorthand and t7ping, domestic soclence, domestie
arte, and pusic, 24 In 1911 the class sessions were from

8:45 A. 1. to 2:30 ¥. K. This was divided up into seven

Perlode of rforty-five minutes each. Thirty minutes was al-
lotted for Junch. Each student could algo expect three houre
of homeworic 53111.33 In 1913 there were seven periods of

forty minutes each, running from 8:40 A. K. to 2:40 P. k.,

With thirty-rive winutes devoted to a lunch hc::ur.:54

Cn June 1, 1909, the old property was sold and the col-
lege relocated at iark Avenue and Benton P].a.ce.35 The new

Plot on :rark ivesue wae looated opposite Lafayette Fark,

Where, ln =ddltion to the bullding already on the grounde, a
r

few bulldlng was erected.”” The new bulldings were dedicated

-
on February 20, 191C.J7 Thie move, however, did not prove

¥o te in the interest of the school. The attendance declined
because of the competition from eecular bigh schools which

ot
Was very 5tr0ng.’a

The peede of walther College were constantly brought to

g

*Ipid., twenty-fourth academioc year, 1913-1934, p. 5.

ibid., twenty-gecond acadezic year, 1911-1912, p. 7.

16., tweaty-fourth academic year, 1513-1914, p. 7.
351 id., twenty-second academic year, 1911-1912, p. 6.
*Ihe 5t. Louls Lutheran, I, 6.

373uelflaw, oc. cit., p. 126.

®Tne 5t. Louls Lutheran, I, 6.
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the attention of the Western District of the Missouri Synod,
In 1906 Dr. J. He ¥ Dau warmly recommended the institution
and urged ihat youth receive their training in a Christian
achﬁyh;re.Bg

frolessor Arthur 0. Leutheusser, who was appointed to
bhe principalship of Walther College in 1911, faced frus-
Lracin, oustacles in his new position. He supggested a
v25,00U "sinking fund" to be solicited from the Lutheran
laity of bo. Louis. fThis fund would be used to erase all
debls anu leave a margin for necessary improvements. Such
& reésolullion was unanimously adopted and he was appointe&
as chiel solicitor. Wwhen well-to-do members of the Board
ol lrucices relused vo contribute, Professor Leutheusser
began vo see the [utility of the situauion.ho

Froi'e¢ssor Leulheusser went next to the local congre-
Lavions. l1n 1910 there were twenty Hdissouri Synod Lutheran
churches in Lt. Louis, all supporting parochial elementary
uchuu;s. Because they knew the value of Christian education,
the congregations, Leutheusser thought, would come to his
rescue. when he approached the local clergy at a pastoral
circuit meeting, he found no one willing to express an

opinion, much less support the Walther College project.

395uelrlow, op. git., pp. 126f.

boLeutheuaser, ope Cite, Pe 4o
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Leuchoussep Zave as a reason for tha situation the lack of
laterest on Ghe part of the parents for the education of
Lheir children peyond the elementary school level. Parsaats

Were mainly interested that their sons engage in remunerative
1

4

€mployment as soon as possible.

Mindiul of vhe dangerous financial condition threatening
Lhe existence of the school, four of the y unger members of
Liie Facully ook it upon themselves to canvass the surrounding
Arca in missouri and lilinois for prospective students. They
fecvrlicved cneir work to towns which had a Lutheran Church.
L8 voluniary vask was porformed on Saturdays via train,
bicycle, ana occasionally, by "thumbing rides on trucks and
farm wagons." ‘the endeavor was well rewarded. Students were
£8illcd from many new sources so that the dormilories were com=-
Pletely ucuupica.q’g

By 1915 the existence of the school became extremely
precarious, and J. He C. Fritz and £, Harms plcaded for in-
creasced support and the coatinuation of the school. Such a

plea fell on deal ears. No Wiestern District recommendations
&3

Were made, nor was any action taken.
On October 27, 1917, a Miotice of Dissolution" of the

walther College issociation appeared in the "Lutheran Witness,"

4libid., pp. 5f.
42

ibid., pe Be

43$uelflow, op. cit., p. 127.
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the "Lutheraner,” and the public press. The surplue from
the sale of rroperty was turned over to the treasurer of the
Klssourl Lynod until the time when the hilgh school project
Would be zevived.44 The notice ie presented here 1in full as
found in the lovember 13, 1917, 1ssue of the "Lutheran wit-

mis&":"1r55

Lotice of Dissolution

The ualther College Assoclation of 5t. Louis, io.,
pavlng resolved to liquidate its affalre, all de-
vernlure certificate-holdere, or anyone having a
clain 2inst sald Asesociatlon, are hereby re-
cueeled Lo preeent sane to the undersigned for
allowance within one year froux date of this notice.

WALTHER COLLEGE ASSOCIATION
By Chas. J. Burde, Treas.,
301 Granlte Bullding, St. Louls, Ko.
Thue ends walther College. ‘e must wait almost three
decades until the question of a bigh school is once more
revived. In the final chapter of this thesis there is pre-

génted a brief overview of that develorment.

Ihe 5t. Louis Lutheran, I, 6.
The Lutheran lltness, #XxV1 (November 13, 1917), 353.




ChAPTER VI
COUCLUGION

a thorough treatment of the present Lu=-

Lven L’..v'J..._'_E:
 Uheran ni k school situation is not within the scope of

o Low of Che major developmeats will be pre=-
S€aied da uhis final chapter. DUefinite action for a Lu-
scieool in ot. Louis is not taken until the 194L
sonves 0l Lhu ddsgsouri uynod. The Convention gave ime-

2 lormation in view of the following recon=-

e LUs e y s g%
- Ll’h.l.l L" AW s .v“‘.il‘

diclidavions o) the Board for Higher Hducation which were

\L) laau vhe sycodical board of Christian Educa-
biohi e Uhe deard for lilgher Lducation be def'-
“aluvely instructed to enter upon active support
OL 4 program of general education on the high
Sciaoul level, Ghis suppori is to be thought of
il tihe same general terms in whicn the Board of
Laristlian wiucatioa was then supporting and
sulalng tas work of Syuod's clementary schools.

(2} ihat synod declare it as its policy to en-
courage coupregavions and groups of congrega-

Lions Lo esiavlisn indepondent Christian high
sciiools,

{3) ‘hacv the Boards be instructed to survey the
Wwost promisiag fields, to assist in organizing
the cougregalions or individuals necessary for
e supporv ol an iastitution in a given local-
ivy, auce to lend every possible aid to the es-
taolishment and maiantenance of Lutheran high

lrroceedin s of the rhirty-iinth lesular Convention of the
Bvangelical L g of ﬂlﬁ_s_ggi 5”: , and Other States.

Svawelical Lutieran Synod ol s Oh
“Ue. Louis: Concordia rublishing House, .'LQZI;? PPe L33=la
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schaolg and, wherever feasible, also junior col=-

letes in varlous sectious of Synod, subject, how-

€ver, Lo Lue limitation that Synod in no wise

Convribube from iius treasury for the erection and

maintenance oi such hign schools and junior colleges.

“be Louls did somebhing about it. The preliminary
Besving ol representatives from forty congregations in St.
LOULs weuv ou January 3, L2945, at 5t. Peter's Church, St.
Louis, sisvsouri, to formulate plans for z new Lutheran Hirgh
vengol dssociation. On January 29 the Association was for-
mally orgaaized asd a consvitution adopted. Llected to the
04Ty oi irusboes were the Rev, Paul Streufert, Ur, Paul .
Sreuscher; uhe ldeve Clarence Peters, Wwilliam Kramer, John

Urunweaan, L. J. vierker, Joha A, Fleischli, Alvin A. Welp,

nervery Lalise, william C. Krato, f. Obermann, and J. J.

.
“

wWhbLul,

snoviier committee set out in an atlempt to win the St.
Louis congregavious Lo uheir point of view. GCod's Word
ronuéu Liic basis of uh&ir argument. They were persuaded
Lnav only a lack of faith would make the attempt fail. The
Commilioe vhal guided this venture was the rbllowing=3 Al-
vin A. welp, chairman, il. F. Sade, Dr. Paul #. Bretscher,
L. J. pierker, Joha A. Fleiscili, John Grundmann, C. A.

fieffer, william A. Kramer, the Rev. Clarence Feters,

—

2August ie suclflow, The Heart of ilissouri (St. Louis:
Concordia rFublishing House, 1954), Pe 5

j . . . - -
Artbur L. Miller, Zstablishing a Lutheran Hich School
(5t. Louis: Board lor Parish Eaucation, 1953], p. 30.
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ure. alirved M. dehwinkel, the Hev. B. L. Hoschke, Robert E,
vbelnmeyer, and the hev. Paul Streufort,

ine bDoard ol YTrustees purchased a group of buildings on
Lake and waterman Avenues at a cost of $200,000 in June 1945,
inese buildings had at one Lime been occupied by Mary Insti-
bvube.  Glaoce 1939, the buildings contained Vashington Uni-
Versiiy's adult Bducation Departmanb.k

the institution was dedicated on Sunday, August 25,
lﬁ%u,b ai which time, Dr. 0. ?. hretzmann, president of
valparaiso Universily, Valparaiso, Indiana, gave the dedi-
catory address. Jlhere were 250 freshmen and sophomores
expected ab the ooening on September 3. The regular classes
Deraa on oveptember 4. Tuition was announced at yL2.50 per
Jumueataer Lor those students belonging to Lynodical Confer=
ance churches.a hctually, the first year!s enrollment was
24?.7

The Lutheren High School in St. Louis gained member-
ship into the North Central Association in April 1949.3

The present institution has grown to approximately

forty=-five instructors and over 800 students, with the

4uualflow,‘gg. cit., p. 127,

51&2 Lutheran witness, LXV (August 25, 1946), 293.
Sihe St. Louis Lutheran, I (August 25, 1946), 1.
TLutheran kducation, LXXXVIII (April, 1953), 38L.
Sggig.. LiXxVl (January, 1951), 243.
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Present plans calling for two additional separate schools.

s suvudy, the writer believes, reveals the healthy
“Clitude oi the Lutherans in St. Louis, regarding the im-
Pervant mavter of Christian secondary education. Although
Lie vtate of Missouri opened its first public school in St,.
Louis in 185&,9 tiic Lutherans vere not too far behind. De-~
Velopanent was slow and encountered many pitfalls, but coura-
s0us Leaders were always present Lo rencw the attack.

ihe history of Lutheran high school development in St.
Louis, lurvhermore, has impressed upon the Lutherans of this
CLiy, uwne benefit and the necessity for such an institution.
e pasic funciion of a Lutheran high school is to provide
Gl youuh of tue church with a Christ=centered education at
Che sccondary level. 1There are certain goals for which an
iasvivucvion of this sort must aim. A Lutheran nigh school
must suirengthen tne student's faith, deepen his personal
c¢oavicuion, increase his love for the Savior, foster Chris=-
tian scrvice, develop citizenship, and honor God above all
10

else,. A tromendous task! puv the Lutheran high school

as a hanamaiden of the church and the home must be designed

?Arthur C. depp, editor, 100 Years of Christian Educa-
Ltion, Fourth Yearvookt of the Lutheran Education Association
lniver Foresv, lllinois: Lutheran Education Association,

c-l"}l-l-?J, Pe 56
1QFaul we Lange, "Sgtablishing and iaintaining Lutheran

High Schools in Metropolitan Areas," Lutheran tducation,
LAAKiIL (Ociober, 1947), 96.
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Lo assist vhem in carrying out their God=-given responsibility
O bringing up their children in the nurture and admonition
ol Lhe Lord. liowever, the ultimate responsibility must rest
With the home and the church. %his cannot be shifted.
ihe writer evaluates the history of Lutheran high

Schouls in ot. Louis until the year 1946 in a four-fold

\l} Lducaticn has always cost money. Among Lutheran
Circles il was no different. Lutheran secondary education
in Lu. Louis was sustained only by tuition costs for a great
lengil of viwe. YThis very idea caused problems to arise
througit cvhe years. whenever difficulties arose concerning
& Certadn institution, invariably financial support was a
deciding fuctor. Financial problems and the type of people
vhat were called Lutherans in this city were closely related.

lhe German element was not plutocratic, but earned their

money by hard work. As a result, the importance of Lutheran
S¢condary education could not be impressed upon them unless
vhiey could see some financial remuneration. It can defin-
ivtely be stated that one of the greatest obstacles for suce
cess of Lutheran secondary educationwas the matter of fi-
Nances. 4 private school in competition with free public
schools cannot be conducted and hope to survive on low tui-
tion fees and occasional scanty donations.

(2) The original purpose of Lutheran secondary educa-

tion in ot. Louis was to give a broad education to the young
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Doys who did not desire to study for the ministry. By and
laraﬁ, Lhe instivutions all fulfilled this aim. In time
further educavion was also made availablo to girls. The
Curriculum of all the schools was directed to aid the stu-
dent. to meet his obligations in the world. Therefore, for-
9ign languages were nol stressed, with the exception of
Latin, for those boys who did not have the ministry in mind.
lhe emphasis was in the direction of mathematics, history,
and the sciences, but above all, the study of Znglish. The
Study ol snzlish was a basic premise upon which ZLutheran
S8Conuary euucation in St. Louis was founded. The English
languase was closely related to the obligations of the sec-
ular culling that the future generations had to meet.

(3] Llhe instructors that served at the various insti=-

o

Lutions were without exception, as far as this writer could
deleruine, outstanding and well-qualified teachers. For the
BOST part, the instructors came to the schools from the pas-
toral ministry. An interesting side-light and one worthy of
note is Lnab'uné Lirst instructors in these institutions were
not irom the regular ™Miissouri" circles. The early instruc-
Lors came from obther Lutheran bodies, but confessional fel-
lowship was strictly maintained. Our forefathers, did not
a&ttempt Lo hinder such actions. %The Lutheran people'of St.
Louis were fortunate to have such instructors that met the

highest standards of scholarship.
(4) One trait of an outstanding school is the graduates
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it produces. otudent lists are not available for the earlier
Periods, but it can be assumed that these graduates took
taeldr places within the front ranks of the cultured life.
Ulancing at the scudent lists of walther College we see
Lhatl many of its graduates were successful in various oc-
Cupgacvions. many were flourishing businessmen, esteemed

exacutives, or prominent figures in their community.
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